2004

Voi Aiono and Cheryl Aiono v. Kendall Hogan, State Farm Insurance and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1 Whether the trial court erred by granting Kendall Hogan's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Standard of Review: “[The Court of Appeals] reviews] the district court’s order granting . . . summary judgment for correctness and accord no deference to the district court’s legal conclusions. [Citations omitted.] [The Court of Appeals] view[s] the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc., aka Tremco Legal Solutions*, 2005 UT 10.

Citation to Record: Order Granting Summary Judgment (R. 71-72)

2. Whether the trial court erred by denying Aionos' Motion to Amend their complaint.

Standard of Review: Because the trial court denied plaintiffs/appellants' motion to amend their complaint in the same order it granted defendants/appellees' motion for summary judgment, the Court of Appeals applies an "'abuse of discretion' standard and 'analyze[s] each of the trial court's reasons for denying [the] motion to amend in light of rule 15's liberal standard,' despite the fact that one of its reasons was that 'joining the [defendant] would be futile [because the statute of limitations had run.]" *Gary Porter Construction v. Fox Construction, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 354.

Citation to Record: Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend (R. 44-45); plaintiffs' Memorandum in Support of Motion to Amend or for Additional Time (R. 46-48); and plaintiffs' Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Amend (R. 56-58).

3. Whether the trial court erred by denying Aionos' Alternative Motion for Additional Time.

Standard of Review: Where a trial court may exercise broad discretion, the Court of Appeals presumes the correctness of the court's decision absent 'manifest injustice or inequity that indicates a clear abuse of . . . discretion.' *Hansen v. Hansen*, 736 P.2d 1055 (Utah App.1987).

Citation to Record: Plaintiffs Motion to Amend; or in the Alternative Motion for

Additional Time (R. 44-45)

4. Whether the trial court erred by dismissing Aionos' complaint in toto when State Farm was not a movant in Kendall's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Standard of Review: "Because summary judgment, by definition, decides only questions of law, [the Court of Appeals] review[s] the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness. [The Court of Appeals] give[s] no deference to the trial court's determination of issues on summary judgment. *Callahan v. Sheaffer*, 877 P 2d 1259 (Utah Ct App 1994)

Citation to Record: plaintiffs' Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Amend (R. 56-58); Kendall Hogan's motion for summary judgment (R. 41-43); and Kendall Hogan's memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment. (R. 28-40)

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-40 [1992]; Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25 [1992]; Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-201 [1985]; Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-301(5) [2003]; Utah Code Ann. §§ 31A-22-303 to 304 [2003]; Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii) [2003]; and Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules 15(a) and (c) and 56(c) and (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The auto accident giving rise to the cause of action by appellants occurred on July 18, 1996. (R. 1-6) A complaint was filed in the Third District Court, Murray Department, on

or about July 14, 2000 in Case No. 000206066.¹ (Addendum, Appendix 1) On March 12, 2002, this case was dismissed by the Third District Court, Murray Department, for failure to prosecute the action. (Addendum, Appendix 1) On or about March 10, 2003, appellants filed their complaint against appellees. (R. 1-6) On July 8, 2003, Voi Aiono and Cheryl Aiono ("Aionos") filed a Rule 6(b) motion for enlargement of time (for 60 additional days) to serve appellees, which was granted by the Court. (R. 7-10 & 11-12) On August 3, 2003, Kendall Hogan ("Kendall") was served (R. 14-15) and through his insured filed and answer and jury demand on November 10, 2003. (R. 17-21) On January 30, 2004, the parties filed their stipulated discovery plan. (R. 22-24) On April 5, 2004, a motion for summary judgment was filed which only named Kendall as the party to the summary judgment; State Farm Insurance was not and never named as a party seeking summary judgment. (R. 41-43) Kendall's memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment also failed to mention defendant State Farm Insurance. (R. 28-40) On April 15, 2004, appellants filed a motion to amend; or in the alternative motion for additional time and an accompanying memorandum in support. (R. 44-45 & 46-48) On April 26, 2004, Kendall filed an opposition to plaintiff's motion to amend; or in the alternative motion for additional time

¹Addendum, Appendix 1, is a certified copy from the Clerk of the Third District Court, signifying that an action had been filed on July 14, 2000 (prior to the expiration of the four-year statute of limitations) by Voi Aiono and Cheryl Aiono, plaintiffs, against Kendall Hogan and State Farm Insurance, defendants, Case No. 000206066. As can be seen, these are the identical parties to those in the present case. That case was dismissed March 12, 2002, for lack of prosecution (not on the merits); hence, § 78-12-40, U.C.A., applies.

(R. 49-55) which was replied to by memorandum on May 14, 2004. (R. 56-58) On August 3, 2004, the trial court entered an order granting summary judgment and further ordered that plaintiffs' complaint "is hereby dismissed" even though no summary judgment was sought for defendant State Farm Insurance. (R. 71-72)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The auto accident giving rise to the cause of action by appellants occurred on July 18, 1996.

2. In the police report of the accident (exhibit B to the answer) (R. 17-21 - which does not appear to include the exhibits for the record) under the Teresa Peterson portion of such report, Teresa was listed as the driver and State Farm Insurance was listed as the insurance company with an expiration date of August 28, 1996. This police report is included in the Addendum, Appendix 2.

3. A complaint was filed in the Third District Court, Murray Department, on or about July 14, 2000 in Case No. 000206066. In that complaint, State Farm Insurance was named as a separate defendant. (Addendum, Appendix 1)

4. On March 12, 2002, this case was dismissed by the Third District Court, Murray Department, for failure to prosecute the action. This dismissal was not on the merits. (Addendum, Appendix 1)

5. On or about March 10, 2003, Aionos filed their complaint in the Third District Court against appellees, again naming State Farm Insurance as a defendant, separate and

apart from Kendall, based upon 1st party liability. The complaint listed two paragraphs concerning Doe defendants, alleging that these defendants were the agents of each other.

(R. 1-6)

6. On July 8, 2003, Aionos filed a Rule 6(b) motion for enlargement of time to serve appellees. This motion for enlargement was timely and requested 60 additional days to serve appellees. (R. 7-10)

7. On July 9, 2003, the trial court granted Aionos' Rule 6(b) motion, allowing appellants 60 days to serve appellees. (R. 11-12))

8. On August 3, 2003 and within the 60-day period, Kendall was served. (R. 14-15)

9. On or about November 10, 2003, Kendall filed an answer and jury demand. (R. 17-21)

10. On January 30, 2004, the parties filed their stipulated discovery plan. (R. 22-24) All fact discovery was to be completed by July 1, 2004 and amendments to pleadings had to be filed by July 1, 2004. (R. 22-24)

11. On April 5, 2004, prior to the discovery cutoff date of July 1, 2004 (R. 22-24), Kendall filed a motion for summary judgment only naming Kendall as the party to the summary judgment; no similar motion for summary judgment was filed in behalf of State Farm Insurance and it was not named as a party seeking summary judgment. (R. 41-43)

12. Kendall's memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment also failed

to mention defendant State Farm Insurance as a party seeking summary judgment. (R. 28-40)

13. On April 15, 2004, Aionos filed a motion to amend; or in the alternative motion for additional time seeking to amend their complaint in order to name Teresa R. Peterson, the driver, as an additional defendant. (R. 44-45)

14. On April 15, 2004, Aionos also filed a memorandum in support of motion to amend or for additional time. (R. 46-48)

15. On April 26, 2004, Kendall filed an opposition to plaintiff's motion to amend; or in the alternative motion for additional time. (R. 49-55)

16. On May 14, 2004, Aionos filed a reply memorandum in support of their motion to amend. (R. 56-58)

17. On August 3, 2004, the trial court entered an order granting summary judgment and further ordered that plaintiffs' complaint "is hereby dismissed" even though no summary judgment was sought for or in behalf of defendant State Farm Insurance. (R. 71-72)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An initial complaint was timely filed in the Third District Court, Murray Department on July 14, 2000, the auto accident ("accident") giving rise to the complaint occurring on July 18, 1996. This case was subsequently dismissed for lack of prosecution and an additional case was filed less than a year after the dismissal in the Third District Court. Both

complaints named State Farm Insurance (“State Farm”) as a separate and distinct defendant since it insured both plaintiffs and defendants. State Farm had a duty to not only defend Kendall but the driver of Kendall’s automobile, Teresa R. Peterson (“Teresa”), in this suit. *Speros v. Fricke*, 2004 UT 69, 98 P.3d 28. Because State Farm was notified of the pending action through letters from counsel and at the time of the suit being filed and served on Kendall, and because of State Farm’s obligation to defend Kendall and Teresa, State Farm’s knowledge concerning the lawsuit and the facts of the case should be imputed to Teresa, thereby giving her constructive knowledge of the suit and her role therein so Aiono’s amendment would not prejudice her and would relate back to the date of the filing of the original complaint. Both had the right to have State Farm defend them. “[A] person in privity with another . . . is a person so identified in interest with another that he represents the same legal right.” *Brigham Young University*, *supra*. In effect, Teresa was a co-insured of Kendall, having the same legal right as he does to be defended by State Farm. *See Speros*, *supra*. Therefore, since Teresa would not be prejudiced by the amendment, the trial court should have granted Aionos’ Motion to Amend the Complaint to include Teresa as an additional defendant due to the relation back effect. Under the requirements of Rule 56(f), the trial court should have allowed Aionos a continuance in order to engage in discovery concerning that facts of this case and to counter the affidavit of Kendall by State Farm’s knowledge imputed to Teresa. State Farm Insurance, as the insurer of the vehicle, was obliged to insure the driver in this accident. *Speros v. Fricke*, 2004 UT 69, 98 P.3d 28, 34-

40. *See also* Exhibit A to Kendall's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, which is the affidavit of Kendall Hogan containing Exhibit B, a copy of the police report, first page of police report, naming State Farm Insurance as the insurer of Kendall's vehicle. (Addendum, Appendix 2) The record contains no statement by Kendall that Teresa should not have been covered by State Farm Insurance, since his affidavit does not address any facts whether Teresa ever drove with his knowledge. His affidavit seems to indicate the foreseeability of Ms. Peterson driving the vehicle owned by Kendall. (R. 33-34)

Because of it decree that there was no "unity of interest", the trial court erred by ruling that Aionos' Motion to Amend their complaint would not relate back to the date of the filing of the complaint and is time-barred. Finally, the trial court erred by dismissing Aionos' complaint in toto since Kendall's Motion for Summary Judgment was not brought in the name of defendant State Farm Insurance and no such judgment was sought for State Farm Insurance. Since State Farm Insurance is a party to Aionos' action, their action against State Farm Insurance should not have been dismissed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING KENDALL'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

In this case, this Court's standard of review is "for correctness and accord no deference to the [district] court's legal conclusions. In addition, [this Court] views] the facts

and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc., aka Tremco Legal Solutions, Inc.*, 2005 UT 10. The complaint named Kendall Hogan, State Farm Insurance, and Does 1 through 50, inclusive, as defendants. (R. 1-6) State Farm Insurance was the insurer of plaintiffs and defendants and, as such, owed a duty to plaintiffs to deal fairly with them and act in good faith. (R. 1-6) The complaint then alleged that State Farm Insurance breached their duty of good faith and fair dealing with plaintiffs. (R. 1-6) Yet, the trial court dismissed the whole complaint, including State Farm Insurance, even though Kendall was the only movant for summary judgment. (R. 71-72) Aionos complaint against State Farm Insurance should not have been dismissed. Additionally, as will be developed herein, Aionos complaint should not have been dismissed against Kendall and the Doe defendants. Because of the dismissal with prejudice of Aionos’ complaint, it is apparent the trial court failed to view the facts in a light most favorable to the Aionos and failed to accord their complaint the deference that was due.

A. Kendall’s Affidavit Failed To Provide Any Basis For The Granting Of Summary Judgment

Kendall’s Motion for Summary Judgment was supposedly supported by his affidavit attached as an exhibit in his supporting memorandum. (R. 28-40) In that affidavit, Kendall admitted that “on July 18, 1996 [sic] that automobile was in possession and control of my son Jonathan who was then residing at the home of Teresa R. Peterson.” He also stated that “on July 18, 1996 [sic] I had not given Ms. Peterson permission to drive my 1981 Datsun

510 automobile”. (R. 33-34) Since Kendall authorized his son to have the possession and control of his Datsun and his son lived with Teresa, it was entirely foreseeable that Teresa would be driving the Datsun on that date and other dates. Kendall’s affidavit fails to state that he had no knowledge of her driving the 1981 Datsun 510 automobile on July 18, 1996.

The facts of the present case are remarkably similar to the facts in *Speros v. Fricke*, 2004 UT 69, 98 P.3d 28. There, a Jeep automobile owned and driven by Fricke was involved in an accident. Fricke, who was driving, was found not negligent. Prior to the accident, she had given a ride to Hiatt, who was a passenger in the automobile at the time of the accident. While riding in the car, passenger Hiatt asked Fricke to take him to her house (they had just left a nightclub together). An argument ensued and shortly “after passing the road to Fricke’s home, Hiatt suddenly and without warning reached over and grabbed the Jeep’s steering wheel.” Consequently, “the Jeep veered into oncoming traffic and crashed into a Honda Civic driven by Ted Speros, injuring him.” In a subsequent suit, Nationwide, Fricke’s insurer, defended the claims against itself and Fricke, but refused to defend Hiatt. A default judgment was entered against Hiatt.

Nationwide argued it had no duty to defend Hiatt because he was not a permissive user and was further excluded from coverage because of the intentional acts inclusion in the policy of insurance. The trial court agreed with Nationwide and held that Speros’ insurer, West American, lacked standing to proceed directly against Nationwide because of a “lack of privity of contract between the parties”. The trial court also ruled that Hiatt was not a

permissive user within the terms of Nationwide's policy. The Utah Supreme Court stated that "West American's right to obtain reimbursement from Nationwide for the property damage and rental car expense payments it made to Speros is governed by the principles of equitable subrogation", citing § 31A-22-201, U.C.A., as authority. The Supreme Court then stated that West American "must establish that the damages arising from Hiatt's actions were covered by the Nationwide policy".

In response to Nationwide's argument that Hiatt was not a permissive user, the Supreme Court stated that the "issue turns on whether the term 'permission' contemplates coverage for the actions of a person permitted to use a car generally, or rather is limited to those persons who have permission to take the particular actions immediately giving rise to liability". Nationwide further argued that Hiatt's grabbing and turning the steering wheel disqualified him from permissive user status under the terms of their policy. In declining Nationwide's argument, the Supreme Court stated:

The controlling statutory language does not limit permissive users to those who are given permission to drive or 'operate' a vehicle. 'Operator' is a defined term under the statute. *See* Utah Code Ann. §§ 31A-22-301(5), 41-12a-103 (8) [2003]. However, the legislature chose not to use this term to describe the mandatory coverage at issue here. While the legislature could have required liability policies to cover permissive 'operators,' it chose instead to mandate coverage for permissive 'users.' We are persuaded that the legislature selected the term 'user' advisedly and with the intention that it apply more broadly than the term 'operator.' [Citations omitted.]

Our interpretation of 'permissive user' is also supported by a related provision of the insurance code. The code prevents an insurer from withdrawing the coverage it is required to extend to permissive users on the basis that the permissive user was at fault in causing an accident. *See* Utah

Code Ann. § 31A-22-303 (1)(a)(iii)(A) [2003]. *Our interpretation prevents insurers from frustrating this provision by categorizing as unauthorized those actions giving rise to fault.* [Emphasis added.]

Practical considerations also support our reading of the statutory language. The construction proposed by Nationwide would give rise to circumstances *where a person using someone else's vehicle could move in and out of the zone of permissiveness from moment to moment. Such an interpretation would spawn fact-dependent disputes over whether, at the relevant moment(s), a user had permission to undertake the particular action(s) that caused an accident.* [Emphasis added.] For example, the typical automobile owner does not authorize permissive users to exceed speed limits, run red lights, drive recklessly, or engage in any negligent or ill-advised actions. Under the interpretation urged by Nationwide, a person driving someone else's automobile with permission, but without permission to act negligently, would find himself without liability coverage. . . .

Id. at 35-36.

Kendall's affidavit specifically states that Teresa was not given permission to drive his automobile on July 18, 1996. (R. 33-34) Its silence regarding any other days assumes she had permission to drive his automobile on days other than July 18, 1996. Such attempts to disqualify Teresa from coverage on the day in question are tantamount to allowing Teresa to "move in and out of the zone of permissiveness from moment to moment". Such interpretation is clearly adverse to the ruling of the Utah Supreme Court in *Speros v. Fricke*, and the applicable above-cited Utah statutes.

The Supreme Court then discussed Nationwide's argument that Hiatt should not be covered because of the "intentional acts" exclusion. Even though the complaint in the present case alleged no intentional acts, what the Supreme Court stated in this regard is apposite to the present case. Nationwide argued that Hiatt's intentionally grabbing the

steering wheel thereby changing the Jeep's direction of travel into an oncoming car made him ineligible for their coverage. The Supreme Court disagreed:

The Utah legislature has enacted a comprehensive statutory scheme mandating minimum liability coverage for motor vehicles. 'See *id.* §§ 31A-22-303 to 304. This legislative enactment reflects a public policy requiring vehicle owners to carry a minimum level of liability coverage to protect innocent victims of automobile accidents. In the case of an owner's liability policy, the statute requires that the policy insure the person named in the policy and any permissive users 'against loss *from the liability imposed by law* for damages arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of these motor vehicles within the United States and Canada . . . in [dollar] amounts not less than the minimum limits specified. *Id.* § 31A-22-303(1)(a)(ii) [Emphasis in original.]

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