2004

Voi Aiono and Cheryl Aiono v. Kendall Hogan, State Farm Insurance and Does 1 through 50, inclusive : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Kendall Hogan had no liability under the record before the trial court. Accordingly, summary judgment was appropriately granted. At no time did plaintiffs file any pleading in opposition to the motion, nor did plaintiffs argue against the motion on its merits. Indeed, plaintiffs' sole response to the motion for summary judgment was a motion to amend with an alternative request for additional discovery unsupported, as required, by a Rule 56(f) affidavit.

The only allegation of plaintiffs' complaint was that Mr. Hogan was negligent in his operation of a motor vehicle. Mr. Hogan's affidavit, which was wholly unopposed, is completely dispositive. Mr. Hogan's affidavit conclusively indicates he was not driving the vehicle. With no other theory of liability having been proffered by plaintiffs' complaint, or sought to be part of the amendment, the trial court could only reach one

conclusion, that of dismissal and entry of summary judgment. This conclusion must be affirmed.

The entire case was properly dismissed. The trial court made a conclusion that the improper parties had been named in this lawsuit. Plaintiffs have asserted that because State Farm is *their* insurance carrier, it owed them a duty of good faith, since State Farm also insured the tort feason vehicle. This exact theory has been rejected by the Utah Supreme Court in *Sperry v. Sperry*, 1999 UT 101, 990 P.2d 381.

Plaintiffs' great reliance on the recent decision of *Speros v. Fricke*, 2004 UT 69, 98 P.3d 28 is misplaced. The *Speros* decision has no relevance whatsoever to the present matter. *Speros* discusses neither amendments to pleadings nor tort liability. Instead, *Speros* solely addresses the issue of insurance coverage under mandatory insurance requirements of the motor vehicle insurance code liability section. No coverage issues are presented in this case, and therefore the *Speros* decision is simply irrelevant.

Plaintiffs' motion for additional time was properly denied. The Rules of Civil Procedure as well as the case law of the Utah Appellate Courts is clear that in the absence of the affidavit filed pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f), additional time for discovery should not be granted. Plaintiffs themselves in their brief even cite Rule 56(f) without recognizing that the rule itself is fatal to their argument. There was no affidavit

filed. Nor was there anything in the pleadings which states what discovery plaintiffs wanted to be undertaken.

The trial court properly denied the motion to amend. Defendant argued that the amendment should not be allowed because the amendment had nothing to do with Kendall Hogan, the amendment should not be allowed because there is no unity of interest and the amendment would be a futility. The trial court correctly held that there was no unity of interest between the defendants and Teresa Peterson.

The trial court was compelled to reach this conclusion based upon *Penrose v. Ross*, 2003 UT App. 157, 71 P.3d 631. Plaintiffs' complete lack of citation of the *Penrose* decision is curious given the fact that plaintiffs themselves attached a copy of the case to the reply memorandum on the issue of amendment before the trial court. (R.59).

In *Penrose*, the allegations of the complaint were that a father operated his vehicle negligently causing damage to the plaintiff. 2003 UT App. 157 at ¶2. After the statute of limitation had run, the plaintiff attempted to amend her complaint to name the driver of the vehicle, a newly named defendant, the father's son. *Id.* at ¶3 Both father and son subsequently filed motions for summary judgment on separate grounds. *Id.* at ¶¶ 4, 5. The basis for the father's motion was that he was not the driver of the vehicle and the evidence supporting the motion was submitted through the father's affidavit, just as Mr.

Hogan did in this case. *Id.* at ¶4. This court in *Penrose* held that the father and son did not have the same legal interest and therefore an amendment naming the son would not relate back to the original filing of the complaint. *Id.* at ¶19.

The same result should obtain here. Since there is no identity of interest, the amendment would clearly fail as violative of the statute of limitations. As such, the court was well within its discretion to simply deny to motion to amend. Since there was no identity of interest, amending the complaint would have no effect on this lawsuit, and more importantly, the pending motion for summary judgment. In an attempt to bring the facts to the present case close to the facts of case law from other jurisdictions, plaintiffs rely on facts not found in the record but rather on facts that are simply fiction. Most astonishingly, plaintiffs claim State Farm received notice of the filing of the suit prior to expiration of the statute of limitations by service upon Mr. Hogan. As is clear in the record, the opposite is true. Mr. Hogan was not served until seven years after the accident, and therefore more than three years after the statute of limitations had expired.

Because the motion for summary judgment was basically unopposed, this court should sustain the entry of summary judgment as it pertains to Mr. Hogan. Further, because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion to amend and all remaining claims were obviously without basis, the court's refusal to amend and dismiss

the remainder of the suit must be sustained.

ARGUMENT

Although the standard of review of a trial court's grant of summary judgment is for correctness, because the manner in which plaintiffs responded to defendant's motion, the only standards applicable are abuse of discretion as it relates to the motion to amend and clear abuse of discretion as it relates to the denial of the request for additional discovery. Before the trial court, no substantive opposition was made to defendant's motion. Plaintiffs' brief fails to show an abuse of discretion. As to the summary judgment issue, the trial court reached the only conclusion it could. Accordingly, the trial court must be affirmed.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED

A granting of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. *Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc., a.k.a. Tremco Legal Solutions*, 2005 UT 19, 522 Utah Adv. Rep. 18 This court may affirm a grant of summary judgment on any grounds, even those not relied upon by the trial court. *Straub v. Fisher*, 1999 Utah 102, ¶6, 990 P.2d 384.

Summary judgment was appropriately granted in this case as the motion itself was in no way opposed by the plaintiffs. At no time did plaintiffs file any pleading in

opposition to the motion, nor did plaintiffs argue against the motion on the merits.

Indeed, plaintiffs' sole response to the motion for summary judgment was a motion to amend with an alternative request for additional discovery. Plaintiffs admit that Kendall Hogan was not the driver of the vehicle. Further, they admit that no basis exists upon which to claim a negligent entrustment theory. The motion, having been essentially unopposed as to Mr. Hogan, was properly granted.

Plaintiffs' complaint only alleged that Mr. Hogan was negligent as a result of his operation of a motor vehicle. (R.2 ¶ 7 and 8). There exists no allegation in the complaint of negligent entrustment. Nevertheless, in the event that such an issue came to the court's mind, the affidavit of Kendall Hogan rebutted this assertion as well. Thus, Mr. Hogan's affidavit, which was wholly unopposed, is completely dispositive. His affidavit provides (1) that Hogan was not driving and (2) that he did not entrust the vehicle to the person who apparently was the driver. With no other theory of liability having been proffered by plaintiffs' complaint, or sought to be part of the amendment, the trial court could only reach one conclusion, that of dismissal and entry of summary judgment. This conclusion must be affirmed.

The entire case was properly dismissed. The trial court correctly dismissed the entire case as State Farm was an improper party. State Farm was never served in the

lawsuit. It is important for this court to note the actual cause of action brought against State Farm. Plaintiffs did not bring a cause of action against State Farm as the insurer of the vehicle involved in the accident. Instead, plaintiffs asserted that because State Farm was *their* insurance carrier, it owed them a duty of good faith. This exact theory has been rejected by the Utah Supreme Court.

In *Sperry v. Sperry*, 1999 UT 101, 990 P.2d 381, the Utah Supreme Court held that a named insured bringing a personal injury action as a plaintiff occupied the position of a third party, rather than a first party, with respect to an insurer and thus could not sue the insurer for bad faith, or for anything else concerning claim handling. In *Sperry*, Mrs. Sperry was suing Mr. Sperry for negligence and not upon her own coverage under her policy. *Id.* at ¶10. The *Sperry* court recognized that the insurer had a contractual duty to defend Mr. Sperry. Thus, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Mrs. Sperry's complaint against the carrier. *Id.* at ¶11.

While the trial court here may not have so clearly articulated the reasons that plaintiffs could not maintain their action against State Farm, the issue was nonetheless discussed in the hearing of this matter. In the court's parlance, the plaintiffs had sued the wrong parties. Accordingly, it was correct for the trial court to dismiss the entire action as there was no basis of liability as a matter of law to any of the named defendants under

the theory pled in plaintiffs' complaint.

The plaintiffs place great reliance on the recently handed down decision of *Speros v. Fricke*, 2004 UT 69, 98 P.3d 28. The *Speros* decision is cited in nine different places in plaintiffs' brief and plaintiffs argue that the *Speros* decision is dispositive. However, the *Speros* decision has no relevance whatsoever to the present matter. Plaintiffs' reliance can only be described as curious, and the development of the theory in plaintiffs' brief can best be explained as misguided. *Speros* discusses neither amendments of pleadings nor tort liability. Instead, *Speros* solely addresses the issue of insurance coverage under mandatory insurance requirements of the Motor Vehicle Insurance Code's liability sections and the relevant policy. Plaintiffs' complaint in the present matter raises no issues regarding coverage. Kendall Hogan's affidavit and the motion for summary judgment do not address coverage either. The *Speros* decision is simply irrelevant.

State Farm was not a movant in this case because State Farm had never been served. Nevertheless, trial courts possess the inherent ability to rule on obvious matters *sua sponte*. In *Panos v. Smith's Food & Drug Centers, Inc.*, 913 P.2d 363 (Utah App. 1996), this court recognized that although Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b) states that a defendant must bring a motion to dismiss, "We have ruled that a court may dismiss a claim *sua sponte* without a motion by the defendant." *Id.* at 364. Just as Rule 41(b) was

read as merely permitting a motion, but not requiring a motion by a defendant, similarly, Rule 56(a) and (b) merely permit parties to bring motions, but clearly do not diminish a trial court's inherent ability to rule on obvious issues.

Further, Rule 56(d) admonishes the trial court that if a motion under Rule 56 does not render the whole case final that the trial court "at the hearing on the motion" may examine the pleadings and interrogate counsel to see what issues remained. Certainly, the fact that the court holds a hearing and examines the pleadings and puts issues towards counsel indicates that should the court find only meritless claims remain, those claims may be summarily dismissed. Otherwise, the true purposes of the Rules of Civil Procedure would be obliterated. All of the rules of Civil Procedure "[s]hall be liberally construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 1(a). The position advocated by the Aionos in this matter is the opposite. The plaintiffs would have the court, when confronted with a clearly meritless claim stated against an unserved party, allow the claim to stand as an obstacle to complete resolution.

The Utah Supreme Court has noted that a trial court may properly raise *sua sponte* issues of mootness. *Shipman v. Evans*, 2004 UT 44, 100 P.3d 1151 ¶ 36, citing *Society of Professional Journalists v. Bullock*, 743 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah 1987). The *Shipman*

court noted: “By doing so, the court acts in furtherance of a core judicial policy to limit the scope of its power to issues in controversy.” Likewise, when a court is confronted with facially meritless claims, it remains within the inherent powers of that court to dismiss the entire action. In *Shipman*, unlike the present case, when a court *sua sponte* dismissed an issue, the plaintiff asked for review of the issue. *Id.* at ¶ 20. In the present case, plaintiffs asked for no such review. As previously stated, the order on summary judgment dismissing the entire action was entered without objection from plaintiffs. The determination of the trial court is correct as a matter of law. Even if it was not, by failure to object to the order, plaintiffs have waived the issue.

This case is similar to an argument made in *Pett v. Fleet Mortgage Corporation*, 2004 UT App. 150, 91 P.3d 854, where a party claimed that a court improperly converted a Rule 12(d)(6) motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56. In finding a lack of err, this court stated:

Second, a summary judgment in this case would ultimately have been appropriate for the same reason that a Rule 12 dismissal was appropriate: regardless of what facts were or were not alleged, Ted’s claim that Washington Mutual was required to reconvey the property to her simply fails as a matter of law. Thus, even were we to hold that the trial court’s Rule 12 dismissal should be converted to Rule 56 summary judgment ruling, we would still affirm the dismissal.

Id. at ¶14, footnote 3.

Obviously, the *Pett* decision recognizes the principle that where trial courts are faced with meritless claims, they may be dealt with. More importantly, when a case is on appeal, if the appellate court can clearly see that the result would be the same regardless of the procedural setting, the determination of the trial court should be affirmed.

In the present case, under the *Sperry* analysis, there is no question but that the claim asserted by the plaintiffs is not recognized under Utah law.⁵

PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR ADDITIONAL TIME WAS PROPERLY DENIED

In response to defendant's motion for summary judgment, plaintiffs only argued that they should be able to amend their complaint or have additional time to conduct discovery. The court properly denied the request for additional time.

When a motion for summary judgment has been filed, the nonmoving party may present, in the form of affidavit, reasons why he cannot present facts essential to justify his opposition to the motion for summary judgment. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f). If such facts are presented, the court can order a continuance and allow the parties to

⁵In addition to *Sperry* recognizing the plaintiff's claim was improper, Utah law also holds that direct actions against insurers of tortfeasors are not allowed. *County v. Jensen*, 2003 UT App. 444, ¶11, 83 P.3d 405. Likewise, the Utah Supreme Court has held that automobile insurers cannot be joined as real parties in interest in tort actions. *Green v. Louder*, 2001 UT 62, 29 P.3d 638.

conduct further discovery before entertaining the motion. *Id.*

A request to conduct further discovery must be submitted in the form of an affidavit. *Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 745 P.2d 838, 841 (Utah App. 1987). The non-moving party must show through affidavit testimony that any additional time to conduct discovery would enable him to rebut the allegations of the movant's motion for summary judgment. *Culver v. Town of Torrington*, 930 F.2d 1456, 1458-59 (10th Cir. 1991). Additionally, the affidavit requesting the additional time to conduct discovery must show why the nonmovant is unable to proffer evidence in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. *United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Co.*, 870 P.2d 880, 893 (Utah 1993). The additional discovery to be conducted by the nonmoving party must address the legal issues presented in the summary judgment proceedings. *Holmes v. American States Ins. Co.*, 2000 UT App. 85, ¶27, 1 P.3d 552 (Utah App. 2000).

Plaintiffs' argument regarding additional time makes no sense. First, plaintiffs cite Rule 56(f) without even recognizing that the rule provides that reasons must be stated "by affidavit" in order to support a request for additional time. There is no affidavit. Nor is there anything in the pleadings which states what discovery plaintiffs want to be undertaken. The entire argument regarding further time is found once in the motion itself and once in the memorandum. The motion states: "In the event that this motion is denied

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